FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/5/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/27/2024 11:39 AM

No. 85114-4-I

Case #: 1036710

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHELLA SIMBULAN, a married woman, RON SIMBULAN, SR., as an individual and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Ronald Simbulan, Jr.,

Respondents,

VS.

NORTHWEST HOSPITAL & MEDICAL CENTER,

Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas B. Vertetis WSBA No. 29805

Elizabeth P. Calora WSBA No. 42527

William T. McClure WSBA No. 54622

Counsel for Petitioner

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA, PLLC

909 A St., Suite 700 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 777-0799

C.		This Case Presents an Issue of Substantial Public Importance		

VI.	Conclusion	34
-----	------------	----

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Henderson v. Thompson, 200 Wn. 2d 417, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022)passim
Lantz v. State, 28 Wn. App.2d 308, 535 P.3d 501 (2023)20
Simbulan v. Nw. Hosp. and Med. Ctr., No. 85114-4-I, Slip Op. (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 26, 2024)
State v. Bagby, 200 Wn.2d 777, 522 P.3d 982 (2023)31, 34
State v. Berhe, 193 Wn.2d 657, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019)passim
State v. Jefferson, 192 Wn.2d 225, 429 P.3d 467 (2018)23
State v. Tesfasilasye, 200 Wn.2d 345, 518 P.3d 193 (2022)23, 32
State v. Tigano, 63 Wn. App. 336, 342, 818 P.2d 1369 (1991)22
Rules
GR 37passim
RAP 13

I. Identity of Petitioners and Introduction

Shella and Ron Simbulan, parents of baby Ronnie, ask this Court to accept review of the Division One decision which reversed the trial court's determination that an evidentiary hearing under GR 37 and *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wn. 2d 417, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022), was necessary to determine whether implicit bias impacted the verdict. The Court should accept review both because the Division One decision directly contravenes this Court's controlling precedent, RAP 13.4(b)(1), and because the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court, RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Following a jury trial that resulted in a defense verdict for Northwest Hospital & Medical Center (Northwest Hospital), the trial court ordered an evidentiary hearing regarding possible bias affecting the verdict based on *Henderson*. The trial court, properly applying the

Henderson principles, ruled that an objective observer could conclude that bias affected the verdict. It concluded that there was a prima facie showing of bias because, throughout the entire trial, Northwest Hospital counsel questioned multiple witnesses and made statements regarding the Simbulans' status as immigrants from the Philippines. An objective observer could conclude that these questions invoked stereotypes regarding "chain migration," non-nuclear family structures, model minorities, and "good immigrant" versus "bad immigrant." In ordering an evidentiary hearing, the trial court properly ruled in accordance with GR 37 and Henderson.

Northwest Hospital requested that Division One reverse the trial court's decision granting the evidentiary hearing, arguing that no objective observer could have viewed bias as a factor in the verdict. Division One agreed with Northwest Hospital, holding that the trial court erred when it ruled that a hearing on bias was warranted.

The Division One opinion disregarded this Court's holding in *Henderson*, which requires an evidentiary hearing when a trial court determines that a prima facie showing of bias has been made. Specifically, Division One applied a de novo standard of review—inconsistent with other motion for new trial standards and the standard applied in *Henderson* itself. Further, Division One failed to properly apply *Henderson* when determining whether an objective observer who is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have influenced jury verdicts in Washington State could view race as a factor in the verdict against the Simbulans.

The Division One opinion directly conflicts with the standards set forth in *Henderson*. Instead of allowing the trial court to conduct an evidentiary hearing to determine whether implicit bias impacted the verdict in this case, Division One deprived the trial court of the opportunity to

even investigate potential bias by holding that the Simbulans did not make a prima facie showing. By so holding, the Division One opinion conflicts with and misapplies *Henderson*. Additionally, Division One employed the incorrect standard of review for this post-trial determination which innately includes considerations beyond a cold, written record reviewed on appeal. As such, the Simbulans request that this Court grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4).

II. Division One Decision

In a published decision filed on August 26, 2024, Division One held that a post-trial evidentiary hearing on potential bias impacting a verdict is only appropriate when there is "intentionally racialized framing of the arguments presented" that is also "purposeful" and "flagrant." Simbulan v. Nw. Hosp. and Med. Ctr., No. 85114-4-I, Slip

Op. at 23 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 26, 2024). APPENDIX A. On this basis, Division One reversed the trial court's determination that an evidentiary hearing was necessary here.

Two legal conclusions led Division One to prohibit the trial court from hearing evidence on bias. First, Division One broke from the typical post-trial standard of review by reviewing the grant of an evidentiary hearing de novo. Second, after stepping into the shoes of the trial court, Division One held that an evidentiary hearing was not permitted based on its independent review and interpretation of the evidence.

Division One denied the Simbulans' motion for reconsideration on October 29, 2024. **APPENDIX B**.

¹ Simbulan v. Nw. Hosp. and Med. Ctr., __Wn. App. 2d __, 555 P.3d 455, 466 (2024).

III. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Did Division One apply the correct standard of review for a trial court's decision to grant a post-trial evidentiary hearing based on *Henderson*?
- 2. In a case where the trial court granted an evidentiary hearing after concluding that the Simbulans met their prima facie burden to demonstrate that bias could have affected the jury verdict, did Division One err by overruling the trial court's determination?

IV. Statement of the Case

Ron and Shella Simbulan filed suit against Northwest Hospital in King County Superior Court regarding the death of their newborn son. Clerk's Papers at 1-10. After a three-week trial, a jury returned a verdict in favor of Northwest Hospital. CP at 49-50. The Simbulans moved for a new trial. CP at 62-92. They argued, in part, that they were entitled to an evidentiary hearing to determine whether

improper bias affected the jury verdict. The trial court granted the Simbulans' request for an evidentiary hearing under *Henderson*. CP at 305-10.

Because Northwest Hospital sought interlocutory review of the trial court decision granting an evidentiary hearing, that evidentiary hearing has yet to occur. A Division One Commissioner accepted review of the trial court's decision to grant the hearing. Division One reversed the trial court. The Simbulans moved for reconsideration, and, after calling for a response, Division One denied the motion.

A. Factual Background

Ron Simbulan emigrated from the Philippines to the United States, where several of his family members had already established homes. See RP at 1301. He began working for the University of Washington as a maintenance custodian and lived with his sister and her children. RP at

1147.

In 2007, while visiting the Philippines, Ron met Shella. RP at 1128. The couple became engaged, and they married in 2008. RP at 1128. Ron returned to the United States to his job. RP at 1302. Ron would make visits to the Philippines to see Shella. RP at 1158-59. Shella and Ron's oldest daughter, Fate,² was born in the Philippines. RP at 1129.

In April 2016, Shella immigrated to Washington, where she has worked part-time as a gas station attendant. RP at 1128. In March 2017, Shella became pregnant with the couple's second child, Ron Jr. ("Ronnie"). RP at 1130.

On December 9, 2017, Shella presented to Northwest Hospital in labor and was admitted. RP at 1133. Shella's care was handled by Dr. Anita Tiwari. RP at 595,

² The Simbulan's oldest child, Fate, is sometimes referred to as "Faith" in the Verbatim Report of Proceedings. For consistency and accuracy, the Simbulans refer to her by her legal name, Fate.

609-10. Shella's labor proceeded normally. RP at 609-11. Ronnie's head was delivered but his shoulders and body did not follow, resulting in a shoulder dystocia. RP at 619. For over twenty minutes, Dr. Tiwari attempted maneuvers to relieve the shoulder dystocia; none were successful. RP at 477, 597, 625. Eventually, another obstetrician arrived and delivered Ronnie within one minute. RP at 460, 478. Ronnie was delivered alive but was unresponsive. He died the following day. RP at 880.

B. Trial Proceedings

Trial testimony began in this matter on September 6, 2022. RP at 439. The Simbulans presented two board-certified obstetricians who opined that the standard of care was not met. See RP at 678, 1319-20. Northwest Hospital's expert testified he had never seen a shoulder dystocia that lasted this long without resolving. RP at 1079. Relevant here are four witnesses' testimony, one jury

question, and Northwest Hospital's opening and closing arguments.

1. Northwest Hospital Opening Statement

Minutes into Northwest Hospital's counsel's opening statement, counsel stated, "This was Ms. Simbulan's second baby. Her first baby had been delivered in the Philippines." RP at 415. Northwest Hospital's counsel's opening statement provided no other background information regarding the Simbulans. See RP at 411-36. In contrast, the Simbulans' opening neither stated that they had emigrated from the Philippines nor referenced the fact that their first child was born there. RP at 326-53. There was a single reference to the Simbulans as "a large, loving, culturally-thoughtful, Filipino family." RP at 351.

2. Plaintiff Shella Simbulan

Shella Simbulan testified regarding her memory of the delivery, personal background, and damages that resulted from the death of her child. Her testimony was presented through a Tagalog interpreter. RP at 1126.

3. Plaintiff Ron Simbulan

Similarly, Ron Simbulan's testimony was presented through a Tagalog interpreter. RP at 1145. Northwest Hospital's counsel began her cross examination of Ron on the topic of his marriage and the fact that, for a number of years, Ron had lived in the United States while Shella lived in the Philippines:

Q. My first question to you, Mr. Simbulan, is you and your wife, you were married in 2008; is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And my understanding, based on your deposition testimony and what you've testified here today, is that you and your wife weren't actually able to live in the same country for the first seven to eight years of your marriage; is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. You were living in the U.S., here in Washington, and she was living in the Philippines during that seven- to eight-year period?

A. Correct.

- Q. And sounds like you guys communicated over the phone or during video calls and things like that pretty frequently; right?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And you did visit her periodically in the Philippines, while you were married, before she moved to the U.S.; is that right?
- A. Correct.
- Q. She actually became pregnant with your first child in the Philippines while you -- during one of those visits; is that right?
- A. Correct.
- Q. She moved -- your wife, Ms. Simbulan, moved to the U.S., moved to Washington, in April of 2016. Does that sound correct to you? A. Correct.
- Q. And she became pregnant with your second child in March of 2017, shortly thereafter; right?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Okay. As for your first child, her name is [Fate]. Did I get that right?
- A. Correct.
- Q. [Fate] was born in the Philippines in 2012?
- A. Correct.
- Q. About four years into your marriage?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And when your wife gave birth to [Fate] in the Philippines, you were not living in the Philippines? You weren't present for that delivery; correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. You were in Washington at the time when she gave birth to your first child, Faith[sic], in 2012?
- A. Correct.

RP at 1158-60.

After this extended line of questioning, Northwest Hospital's counsel briefly questioned Ron regarding the relevant facts of the case, including Shella's prenatal care, the progression of Shella's delivery, and his relationship with Shella and his daughters after Ronnie's death. RP at 1160-65.

4. Ahmed Saleh, the Simbulans' Family Member

The Simbulans called Ahmed Saleh to testify. Mr. Saleh is married to Ron Simbulan's sister. Northwest Hospital's counsel cross examined Mr. Saleh and again brought up the past living situations of the Simbulans. RP 1301-03.

Northwest Hospital's counsel had Mr. Saleh confirm that Ron Simbulan lived with his sister for four years and that, during that time, Shella was not living in the United States. Counsel asked, "And during that period, that four-

year period that you were living across the hall from each other, Mr. Simbulan was married at the time to Joy,³ but she was not living in the US; correct?" RP 1301.

Further, Northwest Hospital's counsel inquired into Ron living with Mr. Saleh for a time while Shella remained in the Philippines despite the Simbulans being married. *Id.* Counsel also elicited testimony that after Ron and Shella purchased a home, another family member, a different sister of Ron's, continued to live with them. RP 1301-02.

Northwest Hospital's counsel also emphasized language as it related to the Simbulans and their brother-in-law: "[O]ne thing I want to establish is that understanding that you – you are not from the Philippines. You don't speak the language of Mr. and Mrs. Simbulan; correct?" RP 1303-04. He responded, "Correct." *Id.*

³ "Joy" is Shella Simbulan's middle name, RP 1127, and her family sometimes referred to her by this name. RP 1300.

5. <u>Dr. Tiwari Testimony and Jury Question</u>

In addition to testifying about the relevant medical care, Northwest Hospital's counsel elicited testimony from Dr. Tiwari regarding her personal background. RP at 1378. Dr. Tiwari testified that she grew up in India, came to the United States for her education, and then became a doctor. *Id.*

Members of the jury asked questions throughout the trial. One juror asked Dr. Tiwari, "How old were you when you left India?" RP at 1509. Dr. Tiwari responded that she came to the United States in sixth grade. *Id*.

6. Northwest Hospital Closing Argument

In closing argument, Northwest Hospital counsel suggested that, if the jury awarded damages, those funds could be used to take "family trips home to the Philippines every year to go visit their extended family and spend time with them." RP at 1714. Counsel reiterated that a

damages award could fund the Simbulans "to go back to the Philippines and visit their family." *Id.* The jury returned a verdict in favor of Northwest Hospital. CP at 49-50.

C. Post Trial Proceedings

Following the entry of judgment in this case, the Supreme Court issued its decision in *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d 417. The Simbulans subsequently moved for a new trial based on (1) a jury instruction that they believed was improperly given and (2) improper bias affecting the verdict, relying on *Henderson*. CP at 62-92.

After a hearing, the trial court denied the motion regarding the jury instruction but ruled that the Simbulans met their prima facie burden to receive an evidentiary hearing. CP at 305-10. The trial court's written ruling regarding the implicit bias issue spanned five pages of the Order. The trial court detailed the legal standard from *Henderson* and applied it to the facts of this case. These

factual findings addressed the testimony and counsel's statements through the trial proceedings.

The trial court ruled

Importantly, the standard at this stage of proceedings also does not ask whether bias *did* affect the verdict, but whether when viewed through the objective observer lens, it *could* have.

. . .

Given the prima facie standard, an objective observer *could* conclude that testimony and argument regarding the Simbulans' culture, national origin, and family history made race an implicit factor in the verdict.

CP at 309

Northwest Hospital subsequently sought reversal of the trial court's order granting an evidentiary hearing. Division One agreed with the Hospital and overruled the trial court's grant of the hearing.

The Simbulans moved for reconsideration of Division

One's decision. After calling for a response from

Northwest Hospital, Division One denied the motion. This

Petition follows.

V. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

This Court should accept review of two issues. First, this Court should correct the standard of review for appellate courts that consider a trial court's decision to grant a post-trial evidentiary hearing based on GR 37 and *Henderson*. Division One's holding of a de novo standard conflicts with this Court's precedent, including *Henderson* itself. RAP 13(b)(1).

Second, this Court should review Division One's reasoning and employment of the objective observer standard to this case. In direct contravention of *Henderson*, *Berhe*,⁴ and other cases of this Court, Division One emphasized that the nature of the bias must be "purposeful" and "flagrant" to prompt an evidentiary

⁴ State v. Berhe, 193 Wn.2d 647, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019).

hearing. Slip. Op. at 23. This Court should correct Division One's misstatement of the appropriate threshold for an evidentiary hearing.

Third, this Court should also grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because this petition—as made clear by this Court in *Henderson*—involves an issue of "substantial public import."

A. Division One's De Novo Standard for the Granting of a Post-Trial Evidentiary Hearing Conflicts with this Court's Precedent

If the goals of *Henderson*, *Berhe*, and GR 37 are to eliminate racism from verdicts, then there must be deference to the trial court that grants an evidentiary hearing to further evaluate whether bias did indeed impact a verdict.

Before *Henderson*, this Court adopted GR 37 to address "the influence of implicit racial bias" in our legal system. *Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d at 664. *Berhe* expressly

recognized that "trial courts have discretion to determine whether an evidentiary hearing is necessary before ruling on a motion for a new trial." *Id.* at 657. After observing that GR 37's "objective observer" standard was uniquely tailored to address implicit racism's insidious effects on legal proceedings, *Berhe* held that "similar standards apply when it is alleged that implicit racial bias was a factor in the jury's verdict." *Id.* at 665.

Under *Berhe*, trial courts properly exercise their discretion by determining whether "an objective observer . . . could view race as a factor in the verdict" and, if so, ordering an evidentiary hearing.⁵ *Id. Henderson* imported these same legal standards into challenges to civil jury trial verdicts based on allegations of implicit racial bias. 200

.

⁵ Lantz v. State, 28 Wn. App.2d 308, 535 P.3d 501 (2023), acknowledged *Berhe*'s application of the abuse of discretion standard for a trial court decision on a post-trial evidentiary hearing: "The *Berhe* opinion in particular points out the discretion trial courts have in determining the necessity of an evidentiary hearing, balanced with safeguarding the right to a *fair trial* by an impartial jury." *Id.* at 333.

Wn.2d at 435.

Consistent with *Berhe*, *Henderson* concluded, without further analysis, that abuse of discretion is the applicable standard: "Here, the trial court abused its discretion by failing to grant an evidentiary hearing" 200 Wn.2d at 423. And this Court reiterated: "Trial judges abuse their discretion in denying an evidentiary hearing on a motion for a new trial when presented with a prima facie showing that an objective observer could view race as a factor in the verdict." *Id.* at 438.

In contrast, here, Division One held that because the objective observer standard "incorporates the totality of the circumstances at trial, we review the prima facie showing de novo." Slip Op. at 11. But the "totality of the circumstances" for a prima facie showing is more than reviewing transcripts.

Trial courts that make findings of fact and observe the behavior and demeanor of witnesses, counsel, and jurors over the course of a multi-week trial are uniquely positioned to consider a party's request for an evidentiary hearing. "To assess whether prejudice has occurred, it is necessary to compare the particular misconduct with all of the facts and circumstances of the trial." *State v. Tigano*, 63 Wn. App. 336, 342, 818 P.2d 1369 (1991). As a result, "the trial court is in the best position to make this comparison." *Id*.

In open conflict with controlling precedent of this Court, Division One disregarded the myriad reasons for deference to the trial court, holding only that deference was not warranted here because credibility determinations were not an issue. But credibility assessments are not the only basis for affording deference to a trial court's decision. The tenor of the courtroom, the tone of trial, how jurors responded to the evidence—all mattered. How hearing the Simbulans testify through interpreters appeared, sounded, and was received by the jury mattered. When a trial judge

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