FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/23/2024 3:29 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 103671-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHELLA SIMBULAN, married woman; RON SIMBULAN, as an individual and as Personal Representative of THE ESTATE OF RON SIMBULAN, JR.,

Petitioners,

v.

NORTHWEST HOSPITAL & MEDICINE CENTER, Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHNSON, GRAFFE, KEAY, SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S. MONIZ & WICK, LLP

By: Miranda K. Aye WSBA No. 40582 Aida Babahmetovic WSBA No. 53207

925 4th Avenue, Suite 3550 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 223-4770 By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

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

The Court of Appeals' use of the de novo standard of review is consistent with all this Court's precedent, including *Henderson*, and does not present an issue of substantial public interest requiring this Court's determination. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

1. Henderson applied de novo review.

As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, the Henderson decision itself "gave no deference to the trial judge in that case." (Op. 10) The Simbulans quote this Court's conclusion that "the trial court abused its discretion by failing to grant an evidentiary hearing" (Pet. 21), but omit the remainder of the sentence: "and also by failing to impose any sanctions for Thompson's discovery violations." Henderson, 200 Wn.2d at 423, ¶3 (emphasis added)—a decision traditionally reviewed for abuse of discretion. (See Reply Br. 16–17)

The Simbulans' contention that the *Henderson* Court's reference to the "totality of the circumstances" refers to the trial court's subjective opinion of what occurred at trial is refuted by this Court's reasoning and decision in *Henderson*. This Court made its own objective assessment of the record: "An objective observer could conclude that the themes and arguments advanced by defense counsel suggested Henderson and her witnesses were not credible because of their race, and considering the totality of the circumstances of this trial, an objective

observer could therefore conclude that racism affected the verdict." *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 439, ¶41 (citing *State v. Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d 647, 666, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019)). Indeed, the *Berhe* discussion cited by *Henderson* itself warns that courts must "limit themselves to determining whether the evidence . . . permits an inference that an *objective observer* . . . could view race as a factor[.]" *Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d at 666 (emphasis added). Thus, the *Henderson* test is, by its nature, premised on an objective rather than a subjective assessment of the record.

Because the *Henderson* test depends upon an objective view of the trial proceedings, the Court of Appeals correctly applied that test in noting that "whether an objective observer could conclude that racial bias was a factor in the verdict . . . involves no subjective trial court discretion." (Op. 11) (internal quotations omitted) This Court's review is not warranted.

2. Washington courts uniformly review de novo the threshold objective decision whether to grant an evidentiary hearing on a motion for new trial alleging improper bias.

The Court of Appeals' application of de novo review is also consistent with this Court's racial bias jurisprudence in cases involving jury selection and deliberations, which informs the *Henderson* test. By seeking to distinguish those cases, the Simbulans tacitly acknowledge that the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with them.

This Court reviews de novo the threshold question whether race could have played a part in jury selection under GR 37, or in the jury's deliberations, using the objective standard the Court later employed in *Henderson*:

Whether "an objective observer could view race as a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge" is an objective inquiry. It is not a question of fact . . . It is an objective inquiry based on the average reasonable person—defined here as a person who is aware of the history of explicit race discrimination in America and aware of how that impacts our current decision making in nonexplicit, or implicit, unstated, ways. For that reason, we

stand in the same position as does the trial court, and we review the record . . . de novo.

State v. Jefferson, 192 Wn.2d 225, 249–50, ¶62, 429 P.3d 467 (2018) (standard for review of peremptory challenges under GR 37).4

It is precisely because "[r]acial bias is 'uniquely pernicious" that this Court applies an objective standard and conducts de novo review. (Pet. 26) (quoting *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 433, ¶28) De novo review furthers, and does not hinder, the Court's effort to

⁴ The *Jefferson* Court cited numerous cases holding a trial court's application of an objective standard in a variety of other contexts must be reviewed de novo as a "legal characterization." 192 Wn.2d at 250, ¶62, n.15 (citing *U.S. v. Grant*, 696 F.3d 780, 785 (8th Cir. 2012) ("objective standard . . . calls for a legal characterization") (quoted source omitted), *cert. denied*, 571 U.S. 832 (2013)); *U.S. v. Bassignani*, 575 F.3d 879, 883 (9th Cir. 2009) (objective custody determination reviewed de novo); *State v. Estes*, 188 Wn.2d 450, 457–58, ¶¶19–21, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017) (ineffective assistance of counsel claims reviewed de novo and require performance that falls "below an objective standard of reasonableness"); *State v. Read*, 147 Wn.2d 238, 243, 53 P.3d 26 (2002) (de novo review of denial of self-defense instruction based on an objective assessment).

eradicate racial bias from the justice system. *Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d at 249, ¶61 ("The evil of racial discrimination is still the evil this rule seeks to eradicate.").

De novo review is not limited to jury selection cases, as the Simbulans argue. (Pet. 23) They concede (Pet. 20) this Court followed *Jefferson* in *Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d at 657, ¶¶22–25, a case alleging implied bias in the jury's deliberations, upon which the Henderson Court also relied. The Berhe Court gave no deference to the trial court's decision on an African American juror's allegation that other jurors' statements in deliberations manifested their implicit bias, holding the trial court erred in failing to "ask[] the juror making the allegations to provide more information or to clarify ambiguous statements." 193 Wn.2d at 666, ¶48; see also State v. Horntvedt, 29 Wn. App. 2d 589, 601–03, ¶¶31–35, 539 P.3d 869 (2023) (applying objective standard to reverse trial court's refusal

to allow withdrawal of guilty plea made following prosecutor's race-based comments).

In *State v. Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wn.2d 345, 355–56, \$\\$25, 518 P.3d 193 (2022) (Op. 10), this Court held that an appellate court reviews de novo whether an objective observer could view race as a factor in the State's peremptory challenges to non-white prospective jurors. As here, the Court applied an objective standard and "none of the trial court's determination apparently depended on an assessment of credibility." *Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wn.2d at 356, \$\\$25; *Accord, Lantz v. State*, 28 Wn. App. 2d 308, 311, 333, \$\\$2, \$\\$68, 535 P.3d 501 (2023) ("on de novo review, and applying the correct standard, we also hold that an objective observer could not view race as a factor in

challenging juror 4 and no evidentiary hearing is warranted."), rev. denied, 2 Wn.3d 1019 (2024).⁵

The Court of Appeals' application of de novo review to the trial court's "objective observer" decision is thus consistent not only with *Henderson* but also with this Court's broader precedent.

3. The trial court made no findings requiring appellate deference in assessing a cold record.

The Simbulans argue that "the totality of the circumstances" requires "more than reviewing transcripts" (Pet. 21), but reviewing transcripts is all the trial court itself did here. The trial court did not make findings about "the behavior and demeanor of witnesses, counsel and jurors,"

⁵ The Simbulans contend that *Lantz* "applied "the abuse of discretion standard for a trial court decision on a post-trial evidentiary hearing." (Pet. 20, n.5) Not so. The *Lantz* court cited *Berhe* to distinguish the trial court's discretion to conduct an evidentiary hearing in cases of juror misconduct from those involving "cases of alleged racial bias," which requires an objective standard. *Lantz*, 28 Wn. App. 2d at 333, ¶66.

or the "tenor of the courtroom, the tone of the trial." (Pet. 21–22) As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, "the trial court here made no credibility determinations that would require deference on review." (Op. 10) Its assessment "involve[d] no subjective trial court discretion." (Op. 11)

The Simbulans continue to confuse the deference given a trial court's ultimate findings "based on a developed record" following an evidentiary hearing on a motion for a new trial (Pet. 24), with the objective threshold determination whether the moving party has established a prima facie case requiring an evidentiary hearing to begin with.

As to the trial court's ultimate decision to grant or deny a new trial, the appellate courts defer to that decision "because the variety of fact patterns that arise require the trial court to have a measure of discretion." *Lantz*, 28 Wn. App. 2d at 328, ¶51. "The trial judge is in the best position" to compare alleged misconduct with what occurred at trial,

having "observ[ed] both the verbal and nonverbal features of the trial." *State v. Tigano*, 63 Wn. App. 336, 342, 818 P.2d 1369 (1991), *rev. denied*, 118 Wn.2d 1021 (1992). (Pet. 22) That is why courts require an evidentiary hearing to assess both whether misconduct occurred, and its effect on the verdict. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Cho*, 108 Wn. App. 315, 30 P.3d 496 (2001) (remanding for evidentiary hearing where juror failed to reveal he was retired police officer); *Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d at 665–69, ¶¶45–57.

By contrast, the *Henderson* standard for determining whether the movant has met their *prima facie* burden to obtain an evidentiary hearing in the first place is objective. *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 439, ¶¶40–41. Here, the trial court's order merely recited "the particular excerpts that form the basis of Plaintiffs' motion"—which itself was apparently generated by a word search for the terms "Philippines" or "Filipino" in the transcripts. (CP 307; *see* CP 65–75 (motion for new trial)) The trial court did not

consider a "myriad" of "case-specific considerations" requiring the appellate court's deference. (Pet. 22, 23)

In sum, the Court of Appeals' de novo review of the threshold objective inquiry under *Henderson* presents no issue warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (b)(4).

B. An objective observer could not find that bias played any role in the jury's verdict.

Regardless of the standard of review, the Court of Appeals properly held that the selected portions of the record considered by the trial court do not "support[] an inference from which an objective observer could conclude that the verdict was affected by bias based on country of origin, race, or ethnicity." (Op. 19) The Court of Appeals did not impose a requirement of "purposeful" and "flagrant" misconduct," as the Simbulans claim. (Pet. 4, 18, 33) Instead, it carefully analyzed the record and engaged in the objective determination whether an observer conscious of this State's history of racial and ethnic prejudice could find

an appeal to bias, as instructed by *Henderson*. This Court's review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4).

The Simbulans' complaint that the defense made their Filipino heritage a "theme" to "decrease a potential damages award . . . at every stage of the trial" (Pet. 26, 30) is simply not supported by the record (or the trial court's findings). The defense's only "theme" was that the Simbulans had suffered a tragic loss that was not the result of medical negligence. It was the Simbulans who "made repeated characterizations" (Pet. 26) of their Filipino heritage in seeking damages from this racially diverse jury.

The Simbulans' counsel first addressed the jury by identifying his clients as a "large, loving, culturally-thoughtful, Filipino family" (Op. 22; RP 351), and told the jury about their Tagalog interpreters. (Op. 20–21; RP 1127, 1145) As the Court of Appeals noted, the birth of the Simbulans' first child in the Philippines "was a simple fact of Shella's medical history." (Op. 20; RP 1158–60) The

defense raised the "couple's history of living apart for a significant portion of their marriage" only in response to the direct testimony of the Simbulans and their witnesses, elicited on the question of damages, that they had a strong and loving marriage, which their counsel "expressly presented to the jury in their closing argument." (Op. 20; see RP 1678–79)

The Court of Appeals did not hold that the Simbulans "opened the door" to cultural stereotypes "in a way that could stir up implicit bias," as petitioners argue. (Pet. 29–30) Instead, as an objective observer, the Court of Appeals could not find any hint of an appeal to bias in the isolated and neutral references by the defense to the very facts first raised by the Simbulans.

Further, the Simbulans' argument that the defense relied upon ethnicity as a "theme" to reduce damages ignores that the jury never reached the issue of damages because it found no liability. In *Henderson*, by contrast, after the defendant "admitted fault for the collision," 200 Wn.2d at 422, ¶2, damages were the *only* contested issue at trial, and were precisely what the plaintiff challenged on appeal. Thus, the *Henderson* Court held that an objective observer could conclude that the "astonishingly small damages award," 200 Wn.2d at 434, ¶29, could have been the product of "racist stereotypes about Black women as untrustworthy and motivated by the desire to acquire an unearned financial windfall." 200 Wn.2d at 437, ¶36. In this case, by contrast, the jury never reached the damages question.

The Simbulans' characterization of the defense in this case as a "fixation" on the Simbulans' ethnicity (Pet. 27) finds no support in the trial court's order or in the record upon which the trial court relied. Their hyperbole only underscores how the defense's limited and benign references to the Simbulans' country of origin–fewer than half as many references as the Simbulans' own—come

nowhere near the type of comments that courts have identified as providing a basis to conclude that racism could have affected the verdict.

The Simbulans do not appear to take issue with the Court of Appeals' observation that "the rule in *Henderson* plainly cannot mean that *any* time race or ethnicity is addressed in a jury trial . . . the party challenging the verdict is automatically entitled to an evidentiary hearing." (Op. 12–13) (emphasis in original) Nor do they challenge the Court of Appeals' reliance on the dictionary definition of the modal verb "could" as "be made possible or probable by circumstances" (Op. 11–12), or the plain grammatical fact that "could cannot mean always." (Op. 19) But that is precisely their interpretation of *Henderson*.

The Court of Appeals contrasted Northwest Hospital's defense with the "constant irrelevant questions and arguments surrounding Bagby's race" (Op. 21), in *State v. Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d 777, 802, ¶52, 522 P.3d 982

(2023), and defense counsel's repeated use of racist stereotypes to attack the plaintiff's credibility in *Henderson* (Op. 8–10), which the Court correctly characterized as "flagrant" and evincing an "intentionally racialized framing of the arguments presented to the juries" in those cases. The Simbulans are wrong to equate that characterization with imposition of a requirement that only "intentional" and "flagrant" misconduct satisfies the threshold standard of establishing a case of implicit bias. (Pet. 4, 18, 33)

The Court of Appeals made no such holding. Instead, it recognized that an objective observer could only conclude that the defense referred to the Simbulans' Filipino heritage in a neutral and non-disparaging manner. Carefully applying the *Henderson* standard, the Court found that on this record, "no objective observer could conclude that bias based on race or ethnicity affected this verdict after consideration of the entirety of the record[.]"

(Op. 23) Its decision does not incentivize "BIPOC individuals to . . . erase their background" (Pet. 29), any more than this Court's decision in *Henderson* would. The Court of Appeals instead recognized that the courts are open to all, regardless of their race and ethnicity—subjects that should be neither weaponized nor ignored. Its decision creates no conflict with this Court's jurisprudence, RAP 13.4(b)(1), and presents no issue of substantial public interest that requires this Court's determination. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review and properly held that, under the objective standard established by this Court, no reasonable observer could find that this trial was tainted by implicit bias. The Court should deny review.

I certify that this answer is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 4,996 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).